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PRELIMINARY MATTERS


The parties submitted a written waiver of the resolution meeting.

Subsequent  to the  hearing, both  parties filed a written  brief and  proposed 

findings of fact.    All  proposed  findings,  conclusions  and  supporting  arguments 

submitted by  the parties,  have been considered.   To the extent that the proposed 
findings, conclusions and arguments advanced by the parties are in accordance with 
the findings,  conclusions and views stated herein, they have been accepted, and to the 
extent that they are inconsistent therewith, they have been rejected.  Certain proposed 
findings and conclusions have been omitted as not relevant or as not necessary to a 
proper determination  of the  material  issues as presented.   To the  extent that the 
testimony of various witnesses is not in accord with the findings as stated herein, it is 
not credited.

ISSUES  PRESENTED 

The issues presented in this hearing, as identified by the parties in their joint 
prehearing memorandum, are as follows:
 
1. Whether the manifestation determination on April 21, 2008 for the student 
was correct and consistent and whether the  parents were included in the IEP team 
decision regarding the Interim Alternate Educational Setting (IAES); 
     2. Whether the actions of the student on April 14, 2008 amounted to “serious bodily harm” as defined under the law;
      3.  Whether the school appropriately notified the student’s parents about updating his Individualized Educational Program on April 21, 2008;
       4.  Whether the student’s behavior plan has been proper and whether his plan was revised after the manifestation determination meeting on April 21, 2008 to address the current behaviors as required under the law.
FINDINGS OF FACT

Based upon the parties’ stipulations of fact and upon the evidence in the 
record, the hearing officer has made the following findings of fact:

1. The student is a ten-year-old fourth grade student at an elementary school in 
the school district. 

2. The student has been formally diagnosed with attention deficit - hyperactivity disorder (AD/HD), Pervasive Developmental Disorder (NOS), mild mental retardation and a seizure disorder.

3.  The symptoms that the student exhibits because of PDD include learning disabilities, impairment of social skills, poor impulse control and a lack of social or emotional reciprocity.

4.  Because of his disabilities, the student also has impaired fine motor skills; he has trouble with abstract reasoning and he deliberately makes false statements, particularly when he thinks that the false statement is what an authority figure wants to hear.  He sometimes reacts to situations in an aggressive manner when he does not understand the situation or have the appropriate social skills to handle the situation.  Such behaviors are a coping mechanism that occurs when the student is frustrated or when triggers like the words “homework” or “test” are used.

5.  The student began his education in the school district when he was in second grade.  During the time that he has been enrolled in the school district, the student has exhibited multiple aggressive and violent behaviors.

6.   On May 23, 2006, the student’s stepmother wrote a letter to the superintendent of schools for the school district.  Said letter noted the student’s behavior issues and requested a new behavior management plan for the student.  Said letter also requested a one-on-one teacher for the student.

7.  On May 24, 2006, the former principal of the elementary school at which the student was enrolled wrote a letter to the superintendent of schools for the school district noting that the behavior of the student was so bad that he had been forced out of his previous school district.  The principal also recommended a one-on-one teacher for the student.


8.  The student finished second grade with a substitute teacher and homebound instructor after having begun the year in a regular classroom.


 9.  On October 16, 2006, a behavior plan for the student was modified.

      
10.  In December, 2006, the parents received a note from the staff of the school district stating that “[N]o one seems to know exactly what type of behavior plan we are now following.”


11.  In approximately January, 2007, the student began receiving special education services in the school district from a one-on-one teacher.  


12.  On February 27, 2007, a psychological evaluation of the student was conducted.  The report of said evaluation concludes that the student demonstrates a very low frustration tolerance and often attacks others as a result.   The report notes significant deficits in abstract reasoning, problem solving, memory, and that he demonstrated difficulty with tasks which involved speed and accuracy of performance.  The report notes the student’s difficulty in managing his impulses and his difficulties with fine and gross motor skills.


13.  On September 4, 2007, a few minor changes were made in the student’s behavior management plan.


14.  As a result of the ongoing concerns of the parents about the student’s behavior issues, the schools’ special education director suggested that the parents contact another psychological consultant.  Said consultant then observed the student at school on October 23, 2007 and on November 1, 2007.  The school district did not provide the consultant with any information concerning the violent and aggressive behaviors exhibited by the student, and the student exhibited no violent or aggressive behaviors during the two observations by the consultant.  Thereafter, the consultant issued a report.  The recommendations in the report do not address the student’s violent and aggressive behaviors.


15.  Based upon the work of the consultant who had observed the student and the concerns of the student’s teacher, the school psychologist for the school district began work on a behavior modification plan for the student.  The plan being worked on by the school psychologist did not address the student’s violent and aggressive behaviors.


16.  Near the end of the school day on February 8, 2008, the student exhibited aggressive and violent behavior toward his teacher.  The teacher gave the student a homework assignment, which triggered a screaming fit and him throwing himself to the floor.  The student kicked the teacher’s desk and he kicked her in the stomach.  The teacher placed the student in a restraint, but he continued to bang the back of his head against the teacher’s chest.  The teacher, who has heart problems, later sought treatment at the emergency room and was released.


17.  The teacher filed a handwritten report of the February 8, 2008 incident.  The report notes that the teacher asked the student if he understood what he had done, and he said, “Yes, I kicked you.”  The report also records that the student showed no remorse for his actions.


18.  On February 11, 2008, the special education director sent a letter to the parents notifying them of the incident, and of a manifestation meeting to be convened on February 14, 2008.  Said letter mentions that the student admitted that he knew what he had done and that he was not sorry.


19.  On February 14, 2008, the student’s Individualized Education Program (hereafter sometimes referred to as “IEP”) team met to conduct a manifestation determination review.  The student was not present, but those in attendance included the student’s parents, a former teacher, the principal of the school, the special education director and the school psychologist.  The committee reviewed the following documentation:  the student’s IEP, his behavior management plan, the teacher’s statement, a behavior rating scale, and parent interviews.  The committee determined that the violent and aggressive behaviors of the student were a manifestation of the student’s disabilities.

20.  After conducting further evaluations of the student and ascertaining the concerns of the student’s teacher, the school psychologist developed a new behavioral modification plan for the student on February 29, 2008.  The plan is one and one-half pages long, including signatures.  The plan identifies only three general and vague target behaviors: “When given a request by an authority figure, [the student] will give a positive and appropriate verbal response; [the student] will remain on task, and [the student] will interact appropriately with others.”  The plan goes on to recommend one-hour time blocks, briefly describes rewards and consequences, and suggests the use of a “thermometer” to permit the student to visually track his level of compliance or infraction.  The final sentence voids the behavior plan in favor of disciplinary rules applicable to all students in the event that the student becomes a threat to himself or others.  The plan does not provide proactive strategies or recommendations for staff of the school district concerning how to react if the student exhibits violent or aggressive behavior or how to avoid such behavior in the first instance.  The behavior plan provides for no development of social skills, a major deficit for the student and a factor in the violent and aggressive behaviors the student exhibits because of the lack of social skills, especially in reacting to frustrating or stressful situations.  The inadequacy of the plan causes the student’s teachers to teach to his deficits.

21.  The February 29, 2008 behavior intervention plan is the only behavior plan that the school district has utilized for the student since February 29, 2008.  There are no undocumented behavior plans for the student.  The school district has developed no other positive behavioral interventions, supports or other strategies to address the violent and aggressive behavior exhibited by the student throughout his time in the schools.


22.  On February 29, 2008, the student’s IEP team convened.  Present were the student’s father, the special education director, the student’s special education teacher, the school principal and the school psychologist for the school district.  The IEP that resulted from this meeting notes that behavior issues impede the student’s learning; that he needs a one-on-one teacher in a self-contained separate class because of his “seriously atypical behaviors,” that the student becomes very agitated and disruptive when asked to perform tasks, and that when pushed, he kicks objects, kicks his teacher, throws himself on the floor or screams.  The IEP notes the parents’ concern that the words “test” and “homework” are triggers that cause unwanted behaviors.  The IEP states that the student “deliberately makes false statements.”  The IEP provides that the student’s behavior modification plan is in effect daily and at all school times.  The student’s IEP team included the following statement in his IEP:  “We believe that it is highly probable that one or more of these diagnosed conditions may be the underlying cause of [the student’s] behavior problems.”

23.  On April 14, 2008, the student had a second altercation with his teacher.  After having difficulty with his academic work that morning, the student became upset and threw himself on the floor and began to kick and eventually kicked the teacher’s desk.  After moving the student away from the desk a few times, the teacher decided to stand in front of the desk to protect her computer.  The student then kicked the teacher’s shins and on one occasion he brought the heel of his shoe down across the teacher’s toes.  When the principal arrived at the classroom, the teacher asked to be excused and called the state police to report the incident.  When she returned, the teacher told the principal what had happened.

24.  As a result of the April 14, 2008 incident, the teacher’s shins and toes were red, but she had no bruises and no bleeding.  The teacher experienced pain as a result of the student’s actions but not extreme pain.  The teacher declined the principal’s offer to get her immediate medical treatment and went home.  After arriving at home, the teacher’s husband called paramedics because the teacher has a heart condition and was experiencing shortness of breath, but the teacher required no hospitalization or any other further medical care.  The teacher did not suffer serious bodily injury as a result of the student’s kicking her shins and stomping her toes on April 14, 2008.

25.  The student’s behavior modification plan was amended by school district personnel, and not the IEP team, on April 14, 2008.  The only change in the plan was to add an asterisk providing that while the student is suspended, his parents are required to provide transportation to the alternate educational setting.  The behavior plan was not modified to address the violent and aggressive behaviors that the student had exhibited.

26.  An “Alternative Placement Hearing Notification” was delivered to the parents’ home the night of Friday, April 18, 2008 by the principal of the student’s school, who was accompanied by a police escort.  The document does not mention the word “manifestation,” but refers to an “alternative placement hearing” that was going to be held on the morning of Monday, April 21, 2008.  The parents were instructed to have the student present at the hearing.  The reason for the hearing was the student’s violent behavior toward his teacher on April 14, 2008.


27.  On April 21, 2008, the school district convened a manifestation determination review.  No hearing was conducted.  Present were the student, his stepmother, the special education director, the school principal and, later in the meeting, the student’s new teacher after the April 14, 2008 incident.  When the student’s stepmother entered the room, one of the employees of the school district handed her a prior written notice form that described the specifics of the student’s new Interim Alternative Educational Setting (hereafter sometimes referred to as “IAES”). The IAES involved the same academic subjects, but the student’s IEP was to be delivered at the high school instead of the elementary school he previously attended, and the IEP was to be delivered by a different special education teacher.  The IAES determination was made by the school district, not the student’s IEP team, and the determination was made before the April 21, 2008 meeting.

28.  The April 21, 2008 committee formally ruled that the violent and aggressive behaviors exhibited by the student were not a manifestation of his disabilities.  The parent argued that the student’s disabilities had caused his conduct and that the relative inexperience of his teacher caused her to fail to implement his IEP and behavior plan.  The parent also objected to the placement at the high school because the student would have no interaction with his age group peers and because of the long bus ride to the high school.


29.  At the April 21, 2008 manifestation committee meeting, school district personnel questioned the student about his conduct.  During this questioning, the student stated that he had kicked his teacher, that he had done so on purpose and that he had done so because he didn’t want to do the work that she had asked him to do.  The student’s statements at the April 21, 2008 manifestation committee meeting were false and were a manifestation of his disabilities.  As a result of his disabilities, the student has a deficit in social skills and often makes false statements, particularly when trying to say what he believes authority figures want to hear.

30.  The student’s violent and aggressive conduct on April 14, 2008 was a manifestation of his disabilities.  The student’s behaviors were typical for a child with the student’s diagnoses.  The student tends to become aggressive and violent when frustrated or when asked to do things he is not able to do well, like handwritten work, and he lacks the social skills and strategies to respond to such frustration.  He also demonstrates as a result of his disabilities inappropriate responses to others, and he disregards the consequences of his own actions.

31.  Although the student’s stepmother and other members of the student’s IEP team were present at the school board office on April 21, 2008 for the manifestation determination review, the special education director unilaterally modified the student’s IEP on April 21, 2008 by adding a provision that the student’s services would be delivered at the high school as an IAES because of his aggressive behaviors.  The student’s IEP team was not involved in the modification of his IEP.

32.  The student was suspended by the schools for three days as a result of his conduct on April 14, 2008.  Before the April 14, 2008 suspension, the total number of days of out of school suspension for this student for violent and aggressive behaviors during the 2007-2008 school year was fifteen days.  

33.  The student’s placement at the school district’s high school is inappropriate.  The student, by virtue of his PDD condition, has major deficits in the area of social skills.  Because he has no same age peers at the high school, the student cannot work on acquiring social skills at that location.


34.  The special education director had a number of conversations with employees of the West Virginia Department of Education seeking technical assistance regarding this student.  None of the actions by the school district which were challenged in this due process proceeding were taken as the direct result of advice given by employees of the state Department of Education.
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


1.  Student is a child with a disability for the purposes of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (hereafter sometimes referred to as “IDEA”), 20 U.S.C. Section 1400 et seq., and he is an exceptional child within the meaning of W.Va. Code Section 18-20-1 et seq., and Policy 2419, Regulations for the Education of Students with Exceptionalities (West Virginia Department of Education – effective September 11, 2007)(hereafter sometimes referred to as “Policy 2419”).


2.  Student is entitled to a free appropriate public education (hereafter sometimes referred to as “FAPE”) within the least restrictive environment under the meaning of IDEA, 34 C.F.R. Section 300.1 et seq., and Policy 2419.


3.  The schools violated IDEA and Policy 2419 by concluding that the student’s violent and aggressive behaviors on April 14, 2008 were not a manifestation of the student’s disabilities.  Said behaviors were a manifestation of the student’s disabilities.  IDEA Section 615(k)(1)(E);  34 C.F.R. Section 300.530; Policy 2419, Chapter 7.


4.  The schools’ failure to have the student’s IEP team determine an interim alternative educational setting (“IAES”) violated IDEA and Policy 2419.  IDEA Section 615(k)(2); 34 C.F.R. 300.530; Policy 2419, Chapter 7.


5.  The schools violated IDEA and Policy 2419 by predetermining the result of the manifestation determination review on April 21, 2008 and the subsequent IAES determination, thereby depriving the parents of any meaningful opportunity to participate in the process.  Deal v. Hamilton County Bd. of Educ., 392 F.3d 840, 42 IDELR 109 (6th Cir. 2004);  J.D. v. Kanawha County Bd. Of Educ., 48 IDELR 159 (S.D.W.V. 2007).

6.  The student’s violent and aggressive actions on April 14, 2008 did not result in either extreme physical pain or serious bodily injury to the teacher whom he kicked.  Accordingly, there were no special circumstances and the school district violated IDEA and Policy 2419 by placing the student in an IAES.  IDEA Section 613(k)(1)(G); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.550(i)(3); Policy 2419, Chapter 7, Section 2(C).

7.  The schools violated IDEA and Policy 2419 by unilaterally changing the student’s IEP on April 21, 2008 without convening the student’s IEP team or notifying the parents.  IDEA Section 614; 34 C.F.R. Section 300.320-300.324; Policy 2419, Chapter 5.

8.  The schools violated IDEA and Policy 2419 by failing to provide positive behavioral intervention and supports and other strategies designed to address the student’s violent and aggressive behaviors.  IDEA Section 614(d)(3)(B)(i); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.324(a)(2)(i); Policy 2419, Chapter 5, Section 2(C).

9.  The schools violated IDEA and Policy 2419 by failing to modify the student’s behavioral intervention plan to address his violent and aggressive behaviors after the manifestation determination review committee meetings on February 14, 2008 and April 21, 2008.   IDEA Section 615(k)(1)(F); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.530(f): Policy 2419, Chapter 7, Section 2(A).
        10.  A due process hearing officer has broad discretion to fashion an appropriate remedy when there has been a violation of IDEA or Policy 2419.  School Committee Town of Burlington v. Department of Educ., 471 U.S. 358, 369, 105 S.Ct. 1996, 556 IDELR. 389 (1985); Bishop v. Oakstone Academy, 47 I.D.E.L.R. 125 (S.D. Ohio 2007); Brockton Central Sch. Dist. 49 IDELR 24 (SEA N.Y 2007).


11.  The school district and its personnel may pursue juvenile proceedings against the student without regard to the outcome of this due process proceeding.  IDEA Section 615(k)(6)(A); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.535(a); Policy 2419, Chapter 7, Section 3(D).  However, if such proceedings are pursued, the school district must provide all special education records of the student, including this decision and any later court opinions, to the juvenile authorities to the extent consistent with FERPA.  IDEA Section 615(k)(6)(B); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.535(h); Policy 2419, Chapter 7, Section 3(D).


12.  The violations of the IDEA by the schools as set forth above constitute both substantive and procedural violations of the Act.  To the extent that the above-described violations are procedural, they have impeded the student’s right to FAPE,  they have significantly impeded the parents’ opportunity to participate in the decision-making process, and they have caused a deprivation of educational benefits to the student.  IDEA, Section 615(f)(3)(E)(ii).


13.  The violations of the Act by the schools as set forth above denied the student FAPE because they constitute substantial deviation from the procedural safeguards established by the Act and because the student cannot receive more than minimal educational benefit from his IEP as a direct result of  the failure of the schools to provide appropriate positive behavioral interventions and supports and other strategies to address the student’s violent and aggressive behaviors and of the failure  of the schools to modify the student’s behavioral intervention plan to address such behaviors. Bd. Of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, 103 L.R.P. 31848 (1982); School Board of Henrico County v. Z.P., 399 F. 3d 298, 42 IDELR 299 (Fourth Cir. 2005).
DISCUSSION

1.  Merits
a.  The  parents’ challenge to the April 21, 2008 Manifestation Determination and the parents’ role in the determination of the Interim Alternative Educational Setting:

IDEA provides as follows:


(E)   MANIFESTATION DETERMINATION –

(i) IN GENERAL – Except as provided in subparagraph (B),within 10 school days of any decision to change the placement of a child with a disability because of a violation of a code of student conduct, the local educational agency, the parent, and relevant members of the IEP team (as determined by the parent and the local educational agency)shall review all relevant information in the student’s file, including the child’s IEP, any teacher observations, and any relevant information provided by the parents to determine-



(I) if the conduct in question was caused by, or had a direct and substantial relationship to, the child’s disability; or 



(II) if the conduct in question was the direct result of the local educational agency’s failure to implement the IEP.

(ii) MANIFESTATION – If the local educational agency, the parent, and relevant members of the IEP team determine that either subclause (I) or (II) of clause (i) is applicable to the child, the conduct shall be determined to be a manifestation of the child’s disability.

IDEA Section 615(k)(1)(E)


(2) DETERMINATION OF SETTING – The interim alternative educational setting in subparagraphs (C) and (G) of paragraph (1) shall be determined by the IEP team.

IDEA Section 615(k)(2).  See also 34 C.F.R. Section 300.530 and Policy 2419, Chapter 7.


The federal special education law provides specific special protections regarding student discipline because prior to the passage of the predecessor of the IDEA, school districts often misused disciplinary measures in order to exclude children with disabilities from the public school classroom.   Honig v. Doe, 484 U.S. 305, 324, 108 S. Ct. 592, 559 IDELR 231 (1988).  Accordingly, the United States Supreme Court expressly declined a request by a school district to create a “dangerousness” exception into the Act.  Honig v. Doe, supra, 484 U.S. at 323.

Among the protections provided in the law is the requirement that students with disabilities not be punished by means of a change of placement for conduct that is a manifestation of their disability.  IDEA Section 615(k); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.530(f); Policy 2419, Chapter 7, Section 2(A).  Thus, a manifestation determination is required for proposed discipline that would change the placement of a student with a disability.


In the instant case, the manifestation determination team concluded that the April 14, 2008 conduct of the student in kicking and stomping his teacher was not a manifestation of his disability.  The parents objected to the conclusion.  It should be noted that the proposed suspension of the student for these behaviors would have constituted a disciplinary change of placement, inasmuch as his student discipline summary report, which was introduced into evidence, shows that he had already been disciplined for similar behaviors with out-of-school suspensions totaling fifteen school days during the current school year prior to the three-day suspension proposed for the April 14, 2008 incident.  Accordingly, a manifestation determination was required.  See 34 C.F.R. Section 300.536; Policy 2419, Chapter 7.

The school district personnel present for the April 21, 2008 manifestation determination were the special education director, the elementary school principal of the school the student had been attending and, later in the meeting, the student’s new special education teacher.  They testified that the significant factor requiring a conclusion that the student’s behavior was not a manifestation was the fact that the student appeared at the meeting, admitted his conduct and stated that he kicked his teacher to get out of doing his schoolwork.

The student’s stepmother and the expert psychologist called by the parents testified that the student’s behaviors were a manifestation of his disabilities.  In particular, the parents’ expert psychologist testified that such behaviors are the result of the student’s being required to do certain tasks he cannot do because of his disability, for example, those that require fine motor skills, and his inability because of his disabilities to have the appropriate social skills and strategies to react properly to the situation.


The testimony of the parents’ witnesses as to the question of whether the student’s behavior on April 14, 2008 was a manifestation of his disability is more credible and more persuasive than the testimony of the schools’ witnesses.  A number of factors support this conclusion.


First, the IEP for the student that was in place on April 14, 2008 states that the IEP team believed that the student’s violent behaviors had a direct and substantial relationship to his disabilities.  The IEP states, “We believe that it is highly probable that one or more of the diagnosed conditions may be the underlying cause of [the student’s] behaviors.”  The IEP goes on to note that when pushed to perform work he does not wish to do, the student throws himself on the floor, screams, kicks objects and has kicked his teacher.  The IEP notes that the student deliberately makes false statements.  The IEP describes the concern of the mother that the words “test” and “homework” not be used around the student because they are triggers of bad behaviors by the student.  Thus, the IEP itself, which is a mandatory item for consideration by the manifestation determination team, shows that the student’s conduct certainly was a manifestation of his disabilities.

Second, the conclusion that the April 14, 2008 conduct was not a manifestation is contradicted by a manifestation determination conducted just two months earlier.  On February 8, 2008, the student engaged in very similar, although possibly more violent behaviors, including kicking and headbutting his teacher, resulting in the teacher’s seeking treatment at the emergency room.  With regard to the February incident, the manifestation determination review team was convened and concluded that the violent behaviors of the student were a manifestation of his disabilities.


The schools try to distinguish the February and April conclusions regarding manifestation because of the student’s statements at the April meeting that he knew that he had kicked the teacher and that he had done so to get out of doing work.

The schools’ argument is rejected.  The school district’s reliance upon the statements of the student disregards the fact that the student’s current IEP references his propensity to deliberately make false statements.  Moreover, the school psychologist, who was called as a witness by the schools, testified that he would not put much credence in such statements by the student because of his propensity to lie.  The school psychologist testified that the student likely made the statements at the manifestation determination meeting because that is what he thought the people there wanted to hear.  Significantly, the schools did not include the school psychologist, who had previously served on the student’s IEP team, as a member of the manifestation determination team in April, and so he was not able to share his thoughts regarding the student’s propensity to deliberately make false statements with the other committee members.  The schools’ argument concerning the student’s statements is also contradicted by the fact that the February manifestation determination team had in front of it the teacher’s statements, which included similar admissions by the student regarding his violent conduct on that date.  In addition, the schools’ argument must be rejected because the student’s record shows that he has a major weakness in abstract reasoning, and such reasoning was exactly what the school personnel were asking the student to do in accounting for the reasons for his actions.

Moreover, the presence of the student at the April 21, 2008 manifestation review meeting was the result of the most peculiar delivery of an “Alternative Placement Hearing Notification” to the parents’ home on the Friday before the Monday morning manifestation determination review by the school principal, accompanied by a police escort, directing the parents to bring the student to the school board office for the meeting.  Although a student may be a member of an IEP team where appropriate, this student did not attend prior IEP team meetings.  IDEA Section 614(d)(1)(B)(vii); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.321(a)(7); Policy 2419, Chapter 5, Section 1(D). There was no hearing requiring the student’s presence on this date.  Thus, the very presence of the student at this meeting was a result of the school district personnel issuing an incorrect notice to the student’s parents under circumstances that could well have been misconstrued to be a court order to appear.  That the school district based its entire conclusion as to manifestation upon the statements of the student who was inappropriately required to be there defies logic.

The testimony of the parents and their expert witnesses was more credible and persuasive as to this point than the testimony of the school district witnesses.  This conclusion is based upon their demeanor as well as the internal and external contradictions as noted herein.  In addition, the testimony of the principal and the teacher who was kicked was marked by a pronounced evasive demeanor during cross examination.  For example, when confronted with the IEP provision that admits that the student’s violent behaviors are probably a result of his disabilities, the principal admitted that she had failed to review the IEP at the manifestation determination meeting as required by law, but then launched into an absurd discussion of the meaning of “probable.”


Moreover, the manifestation determination conclusion and the determination of the interim alternative educational setting (hereafter sometimes referred to as “IAES”) were unlawfully predetermined by the school district, without affording the parents any meaningful opportunity to participate in the process.  As stated above, federal and state law both require that a manifestation determination committee be comprised of the parents and relevant members of the IEP team, and that an IAES be determined by the IEP team, which necessarily includes the parents.  See also IDEA Section 614(d)(1)(B)(1).  In the instant case, however, the stepmother testified that at the beginning of the manifestation determination meeting the school district personnel handed the stepmother a prior written notice specifying the parameters of the IAES.  This testimony was corroborated by the testimony of the principal, who testified that she handed the student’s stepmother a prior written notice form describing the IAES at the beginning of the manifestation determination meeting.  Thus, it must be concluded that the school district had predetermined the result of the manifestation meeting and the nature of the IAES even before the manifestation determination meeting started.  In so doing, the school district violated IDEA by depriving the parents of an opportunity to participate in the process.  J.D. v. Kanawha County Bd. of Educ., 48 IDELR 159 (S.D. W.V. 2007); Deal v. Hamilton County Bd. of Educ., 392 F.3d 840, 42 IDELR 109 (6th Cir. 2004). 

In its posthearing brief, the school district argues that the manifestation determination decision was not predetermined because the report contains handwriting stating the contrary position of the parents.  This argument is rejected.  Although the parents’ disagreement is noted on the form, it is clear from the discussion above that the manifestation determination decision was made before the meeting, thereby depriving the parents of any meaningful participation in the process.

It is concluded that the student’s violent behaviors on April 14, 2008 had a direct and substantial relationship to his disabilities and were clearly a manifestation of his disabilities.


Sadly, the school district’s strong desire to criminalize this child with a disability is abundantly clear and disturbing.  The teacher threw herself into the student’s space when he was not hurting anybody, resulting in her being kicked and stomped.  Before the teacher even reported the April incident to her principal, she first excused herself to call the state police to begin the juvenile court process.  When the principal hand-delivered the incorrectly named notice of the April 21, 2008 meeting to the parents at their home, she brought along a police escort; needless to say, this was a substantial deviation from the customary practice.  The pronounced desire of the school system and its personnel to criminalize this student for behaviors that are a manifestation of his disabilities is truly unfortunate.  

b.  Whether the placement of the student in an IAES is justified because the student’s actions on April 14, 2008 caused “serious bodily harm” as defined by law:

The IDEA provides as follows:

(G) SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES – School personnel may remove a student 
to an interim alternative education setting for not more than 45 school days 
without regard to whether the behavior is determined to be a manifestation of 
the child’s disability, in cases where a child-



(i) carries or possesses a weapon to or at school, on school premises, or 


 to or at a school function under the jurisdiction of a state or local 


 educational agency; 



(ii) knowingly possesses or uses illegal drugs, or sells or solicits the sale 


of a controlled substance, while at school, on school premises, or at a 


school function under the jurisdiction of a state or local educational 


agency; or


(iii) has inflicted serious bodily injury upon another person while at 


school, on school premises, or at a school function under the jurisdiction 

of a state or local educational agency. (emphasis added)

IDEA, Section 615(k)(1)(G)


The federal regulation implementing IDEA provides that for purposes of this 

section of the Act



(3) Serious bodily injury has the meaning given the term “serious bodily 


injury” under paragraph (3) of subsection (h) of section 1365 of title 18, 


United States Code.


34 C.F.R. Section 300.530(i)(3).


Section 1365(h) of Title 18 of the United States Code provides as follows:


(3) The term “serious bodily injury” means bodily injury which involves  



(A) a substantial risk of death;
  

 (B) extreme physical pain; (emphasis added)


(C) protracted and obvious disfigurement; or 



(D) protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member, 


organ, or mental facility; and


18 U.S.C., Section 1365(h)(3); see also Policy 2419, Chapter 7, Section 2(C).


In the instant case, the school district argues that the IAES was appropriate under this section because the student’s actions caused his teacher to suffer serious bodily injury.

It is clear from the record evidence that the student’s violent actions of kicking and stomping the feet of his teacher did not involve a substantial risk of death or protracted and obvious disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the various listed bodily functions.  Accordingly, the issue is whether the student’s actions inflicted extreme physical pain.


Although the teacher whom he kicked testified that her wounds from the April 14, 2008 incident were extremely painful, she also testified that she had no bruises from the incident – only some redness.  The teacher also testified that she did not need to seek medical treatment immediately after the incident but merely filled out a report and then went home.  Only after arriving home were paramedics called, by the teacher’s husband, but the teacher did not need to seek treatment by a doctor or go to the hospital for treatment.  The principal also testified that the teacher had some redness and that she was in pain, but the principal refused to characterize the teacher’s pain as extreme.  The principal also testified that the teacher was in greater pain after the February incident than after the April incident. 


It is apparent from the language chosen by Congress that it intended the provision allowing a temporary IAES without the need of a manifestation determination to be used only in rare and extreme instances.  Significantly, the title of the subsection is “special circumstances.”   The section describes more heinous offenses, such as those involving the use of weapons, drugs or serious bodily injury.  This reading of the section is consistent with the special scrutiny of discipline of students with disabilities that is accorded by the IDEA because of the history of abuse of the discipline system against students with disabilities prior to the enactment of IDEA and its predecessor as set forth in more detail by the U. S. Supreme Court.  Honig v. Doe, supra.

When read in this context, it must be concluded that the teacher did not suffer serious bodily injury as a result of the kicking and stomping by the student on April 14, 2008.  It is true that the teacher’s shins and toes were red, but she had no bruises and no bleeding.  It is quite clear that although she experienced pain, the pain cannot fairly be characterized as “extreme.”  The teacher did not suffer serious bodily injury as a result of the student’s kicking and stomping on April 14, 2008.


It should be noted that the special education director testified that the Safe Schools Act takes priority over the provisions of IDEA and that she was informed of this by an employee of the state Department of Education.  The only employee of the state Department of Education who testified in this matter stated to the contrary, that the provisions of the federal IDEA take priority over any state laws such as the Safe Schools Act.  Indeed, the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution mandates this result.  The testimony of the special education director that she was following the advice of the state Department of Education regarding the IAES is not accepted.

In its posthearing brief, the school district references a pending juvenile action filed against the student, including evidence that was not submitted at the hearing concerning the date of a preliminary hearing.  Such evidence will not be considered because it is not part of the record herein.  As to the pending juvenile charges, however, the fact that they have been filed is not relevant to the issue of whether the teacher suffered serious bodily injury.  It is uncontested that the student kicked and stomped on the toes of his teacher, resulting in redness but no bruises.  This simply does not constitute serious bodily injury.


c.  Whether the school district appropriately notified the student’s parents about changing his IEP on April 21, 2008.

The record evidence indicates that the school district unilaterally amended the student’s IEP on April 21, 2008 to reflect his new placement at the high school pursuant to the IAES decision.  Changes to an IEP must be made by the IEP team, which includes the parents as important members.  IDEA Section 614; 34 C.F.R. Sections 300.320-300.324; Policy 2419, Chapter 5.


When questioned about the unilateral change in the IEP despite the fact that the parent was present for the manifestation determination meeting on that same day, April 21, 2008, the special education director for the schools testified that she “forgot” the step of the IEP team meeting.

The special education director also testified that she was advised by the state Department of Education that it was permissible to avoid the IEP team if no academic subjects were changed.  This position is negated, however, because the special education director issued a prior written notice concerning the change in the student’s IEP.  Prior written notice is only necessary where a school district proposes (or refuses) a change of placement (or other actions not relevant here). IDEA Section 615(b)(3); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.503; Policy 2419, Chapter 10, Section 3.  If the school district did not intend to change the student’s placement, there would be no reason to issue a prior written notice.

In its brief, the schools argue that the parents clearly had notice of the manifestation meeting because the principal accompanied by a police officer brought a notice to the parent’s home.  Although this notice failed to mention the manifestation determination review, the stepmother did attend the meeting so there no issue here with regard to the manifestation determination review notice. 


The issue here, however, is whether the school district changed the student’s IEP without adhering to the procedural safeguards provided by IDEA, and all evidence in the record supports the conclusion that it did.  This constitutes a procedural violation, but because the parents were denied the opportunity to have any input in the change in the student’s placement and thus prevented from participating in the decision-making process regarding the student’s education, the procedural violation in this case constitutes a denial of FAPE to the student.  IDEA Section 615(f)(3)(E)(ii)(II); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.513(a)(2)(ii); Policy 2419, Chapter 11, Section M.


d.  The parents’ challenge to the student’s behavior intervention plan and whether it was properly revised after the April 21, 2008 manifestation determination meeting to address current behaviors.

One of the special factors that an IEP team must consider in the development of an IEP is as follows:

“In the case of a child whose behavior impedes the child’s learning or 


 that of others, consider the use of positive behavioral interventions  

            
 and supports, and other strategies to address that behavior.”


IDEA Section 614(d)(3)(B); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.324(a)(2)(i)


The  IDEA also  provides  in  the  context  of a manifestation  determination meeting that results in a finding that the behaviors at issue are a manifestation of the child’s disabilities:

  (F) DETERMINATION THAT BEHAVIOR WAS A MANIFESTATION-
If the local educational agency, the parent, and relevant members of the IEP 
team make the determination that the conduct was a manifestation of the 
child’s disability, the IEP team shall


(i) conduct a functional behavioral assessment, and implement a behavioral 
intervention plan for such child, provided that the local educational agency had 
not conducted such assessment prior to such determination before the 
behavior that resulted in a change in placement described in subparagraph (C) 
or (G);

(ii)  in the situation where a behavioral intervention plan has been developed, 
 
review the behavioral intervention plan if the child already has such a 
behavioral intervention plan, and modify it, as necessary, to address the 
behavior; and

(iii)  except as provided in subparagraph (G), return the child to the placement 
from which the child was removed, unless the parent and the local educational 
agency agree to a change of placement as part of the modification of the 
behavioral intervention plan.


IDEA Section 615(k)(1)(F); See also 34 C.F.R. Section 300.530(f); Policy 2419, 
Chapter 7, Section 2(H).


In the instant case, the student’s February 29, 2008 IEP notes that his behavior impedes his learning and that of others, states that his behaviors can be violent, including kicking his teacher, kicking objects and throwing himself on the floor, and declares that the IEP team believes that it is probable that his bad behaviors are caused by his disabilities.  The IEP also references a behavior modification plan and notes that the behavior plan is to be in effect at all times when the student is in school.

On the same date that his IEP was created, February 29, 2008, the school district created a new, one and one-half page behavior modification plan for the student.  The behavior modification plan lists three target behaviors: “1. When given a request by an authority figure, [student] will give a positive and appropriate verbal response.   2. [Student] will remain on task.   3.  [Student] will interact appropriately with others (peers and adults).”


After the target behaviors, the behavior plan lists one paragraph concerning rewards and consequences.  The plan then recommends the use of a “thermometer” to visually represent the student’s level of compliance.  The last sentence of the plan voids the plan in the event that the student becomes a threat to himself or others.


It must be concluded that the student’s behavior intervention plan is woefully inadequate.  Because the student had exhibited violent and aggressive behaviors throughout his time in the school district, as documented by his student discipline record, the school district was under a duty to have the IEP team review and consider positive behavior interventions and supports to address that behavior.


Moreover, especially after the February 11, 2008 manifestation determination, which resulted in a conclusion that the student’s behavior was a manifestation of his disabilities, the student’s behavior intervention plan should have been reviewed and modified as necessary “…to address the behaviors.”  The same conclusion could be drawn from the April 21, 2008 manifestation determination meeting, which should have resulted in the conclusion that the behavior was a manifestation of the student’s disabilities.

As the school psychologist admitted in his testimony, the student’s behavior intervention plan is vague.  The plan does not address the violent and aggressive behaviors which the student had been exhibiting.  The plan also fails to provide any strategies or methods for teachers to address violent and aggressive behaviors such as kicking people, kicking objects, headbutting, throwing himself on the floor and screaming.  The plan relies on generalities and sweeping broad targets rather than providing specific behavior interventions.  The district’s school psychologist testified that he developed the behavioral intervention plan based upon the concerns of the student’s classroom teacher, and she failed to identify violent behaviors.  There are two serious problems with this contention.  First, the behavioral intervention plan should be based upon the needs of the student – not the teacher.  Second, the fact that the teacher did not raise the student’s violent behaviors as a concern necessitates the conclusion that the teacher did not consider the February kicking, headbutting and stomping by the student to be a serious or important concern.

The expert witness called by the parents stated that the student’s plan was not a true behavior plan because it is missing many necessary components and that the plan was not effective for this student.  Because no proactive strategies or methods were in place, the parents’ expert testified that the teacher was left to her own devices and committed staff error in both the February and April incidents by putting herself in the student’s space when he was not hurting anyone.  Moreover, the expert testified that because the plan was inadequate, the teacher taught to the student’s deficits; for example, the teacher required the student to perform paper and pencil tasks despite his fine motor difficulties.  In addition, the behavior plan provides for no development of social skills, which is a serious need for this student because of his PDD condition, and the expert opined that until the student acquires such skills, the violent and aggressive behaviors will continue to occur because the student does not know how to react properly.  The hearing officer finds the testimony of the parents’ expert to be credible and persuasive.

The school district presented testimony from its special education director and the student’s current teacher that the student has not only the written behavior modification plan but also an undocumented, ongoing and fluid plan.  This testimony is not credible and is not credited.  First, other school district witnesses, including the school psychologist, testified that there is no undocumented behavior plan for the student and that there is only the behavior plan that was the one that is on paper and was admitted into evidence.  Moreover, the April 21, 2008 manifestation determination committee noted in their report that they considered “documentation” including the student’s behavior management plan.  Thus, it must be concluded that the documented plan is really the only plan that concerned the student.


More importantly, the schools’ contention that there exists an undocumented behavior plan must be rejected because such a plan would be a flagrant violation of the law.  Once the IEP team identified behavior issues as one of the student’s needs, the IEP team would need to consider and approve changes in the student’s behavior interventions, supports and strategies.  Once a behavior intervention plan is adopted, school personnel are not free to modify or to fail to implement the plan unless the IEP team, including the parent, considers the issue and makes the necessary changes. No such changes were made by the student’s IEP team.  It is simply not credible to believe that the school district would have so flagrantly and cavalierly violated state and federal law in this regard.  It is concluded that the only behavior intervention plan for the student was the one that was admitted into evidence herein and that no undocumented plan exists.


As to the inadequacies of the student’s behavior intervention plan, the school district also attempts to shift the blame to the parents.  In its posthearing brief, the school district contends that the student’s behavior plan was deficient because the parents failed to provide information about the violent behaviors to the outside psychological consultant that the stepmother contacted concerning the student’s behavioral issues.  The schools’ special education director testified that she suggested the outside consulting group to the parents, but she testified that she felt she could not provide information to the outside consulting group about the student’s violent or aggressive behaviors because she felt it would be a breach of confidentiality to do so.

There is no evidence in the record that the school district ever asked the parent to sign a consent form or release of information form regarding the violent and aggressive behaviors of the student or that the parent ever refused to release such information.  Confidentiality is simply not the issue in this case.


It is apparent that the school district is attempting to avoid its responsibility regarding the student’s behavior plan and transfer such responsibility to the parents.  As has been stated previously herein, the IEP team is required to develop an appropriate IEP for the student, including appropriate positive interventions, supports and other strategies to address problem behaviors.  The parents are certainly members of the IEP team, but the ultimate responsibility for providing FAPE, including any behavioral intervention plans or other strategies needed by a student with a disability, lies with the school district.  Board of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, 102 S. Ct. 3034, 553 IDELR 656 (1982); IDEA Section 613(a)(1); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.200; Policy 2419, Chapter 1, Section 2(A).


The school district’s special education director testified that she conferred with the state Department of Education about a number of matters pertaining to the student’s education, including his behavior plan.  The employee of the state Department of Education who testified at the hearing, however, did not support the peculiar position of the school district concerning the parents’ role in developing a behavioral intervention plan.  The state employee testified that while it is best practice to involve the parents in development of a behavior intervention plan, it is the school district’s responsibility to adopt an appropriate behavior plan.  The school district’s argument is rejected.  Indeed, none of the claims by the school district that it relied upon information received from the West Virginia Department of Education in treating this student as it has done was supported by the testimony of the only state Department of Education witness who testified at the hearing.  All such contentions are rejected.

As the student’s current teacher candidly testified, the behavior plan for the student that was admitted into evidence is not complete.  This testimony is consistent with the testimony of the parents’ expert witness that said behavior plan was a good start but lacking in several components, especially general and specific strategies for dealing with violent and aggressive behaviors exhibited by the student, as well as strategies and social skills for the student to deal with frustrating situations.


In its posthearing brief the school district challenges the opinion of the parents’ expert because she did not interview the student in person.  This argument is rejected.  The expert witness testified that she had reviewed numerous documents concerning the student, which were entered into evidence herein.  It is concluded that the parents’ expert had a reasonable basis for her opinions.  The testimony of the parents’ expert is found to be highly credible and persuasive.


It is concluded that the behavior plan for the student was not appropriate and therefore constitutes a denial of FAPE.  Indeed, by failing to develop an appropriate behavior plan for the student as required by his IEP, and by failing to make the appropriate adjustments to the student’s behavior plan to address his violent and aggressive behaviors after the manifestation determination meetings, the school district doomed the student’s former classroom teacher to suffer these attacks.  In so doing, the school district also violated the Act.

b.  Relief

Where there has been a violation of IDEA, the hearing officer has broad discretion to fashion an appropriate remedy.  School Committee Town of Burlington v. Department of Educ., 471 U.S. 358, 369, 105 S. Ct. 1996, 556 IDELR 389 (1985); Bishop v. Oakstone Academy, 47 IDELR 125 (S.D. Ohio 2007); Brockton Central Sch. Dist., 49 IDELR 24 (SEA N.Y. 2007).

In view of the foregoing, the following relief is hereby awarded: 

A.  The disciplinary suspension and the April 21, 2008 manifestation determination

1.  The conclusion of the manifestation determination committee of April 21, 2008 is hereby reversed.

2.  The suspension of the student for the conduct in question is hereby invalidated, and the school district shall correct student’s records to show that the student committed the actions on April 14, 2008 as alleged but that said actions were manifestations of his disabilities.


3.  The school district has made many references to a pending juvenile petition filed against the student for the conduct herein.  Although the school district’s desire to criminalize this student is unfortunate, the hearing officer has no jurisdiction over juvenile proceedings and the school district and the teacher may pursue such charges if they choose to do so.  IDEA Section 615(k)(6)(A); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.535(a); Policy 2419, Chapter 7, Section 3(D).  However, the school district is hereby ordered to disclose all special education records of the student, including this decision and any subsequent court opinions, to any court or juvenile office or legal counsel involved in such action to the extent consistent with FERPA and state Department of Education policies. IDEA Section 615(k)(6)(B); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.535(b); Policy 2419, Chapter 7, Section 3(D).   The parents are ordered to immediately sign any necessary consents or releases for this information to be transferred to the juvenile authorities.

4.  The IAES placement at the high school is hereby overturned.  After the outside behavioral consultant develops an appropriate behavioral intervention plan for the student pursuant  to the relief set forth herein, the student’s placement shall be at the previous elementary school, or at some other location if the parents and the schools so agree.  The school district shall pay any transportation costs necessary for the student to attend school.  The teacher whom the student kicked shall no longer provide special education services to this student.
B.  The Behavioral Intervention Plan

1.  The school district is hereby ordered to pay a qualified outside consultant to perform a thorough functional behavioral assessment and/or other appropriate evaluations of the student and to develop an appropriate behavioral intervention plan for the student.  The procedure to be followed is as follows:


a.  Counsel for the parties shall immediately attempt to agree upon the identity 
of the qualified outside consultant;


b.  If the parties do not agree on or before August 12, 2008, as to who shall be 
the outside consultant, counsel for the parents shall provide the names and 
addresses of three qualified consultants to counsel for the schools by the close 
of business on that date;


c.  If the parties do not agree, counsel for the schools shall notify counsel for 
the parents on or before the close of business on August 26, 2008 as to which 
of the three consultants has been selected by the schools;


d.  Counsel for both parties shall promptly notify the consultant that he or she 
has been selected and provide the consultant with a copy of this decision;


e.  Counsel for the schools shall, on or before September 2, 2008, send to the 
consultant copies of all previous evaluations of the student and any relevant 
educational records of the student;


f.  Counsel for the parents shall, on or before September 9, 2008, send to the 
consultant any additional medical records or educational records.  The parents 
shall immediately sign any necessary consents or releases;


g.  The consultant should be specifically advised that time is of the essence and 
that an appropriate behavioral intervention plan is needed immediately;


h.  Within two weeks of the receipt of the consultant’s plan, the student’s IEP 

team shall convene and adopt said behavioral intervention plan for the student, 
unless the IEP team agrees otherwise;

2.  The school district shall pay for and arrange for the aforesaid behavioral consultant, or another consultant if the parties so agree, to train any school district personnel who might possibly be responsible for implementing the behavioral intervention plan for at least eight hours each concerning how they should implement the plan while the student is at school.

3.   In the event that the parties cannot agree to the exact nature and specific details of the compensatory education awarded to the student in the next section, the school district shall also pay the aforesaid behavioral consultant to determine the exact nature and special details of the compensatory education to be received by the student pursuant to the directions as set forth below.

C.  Compensatory Education

The parents’ brief seeks compensatory education, but there is no clear evidence in the record as to the impact of the school district’s denial of FAPE upon the student’s educational needs.  It is clear, however, that the schools have denied FAPE to the student by failing to provide appropriate positive behavioral interventions and supports and other strategies to address the student’s violent behaviors and by failing to modify his behavioral intervention plan after the February, 2008 incident to address his violent behaviors.  Moreover, it must be concluded that it is not safe for the student or others at his school to return to elementary school separate class placement until the behavioral consultant referred to above completes an appropriate behavioral intervention plan and trains staff at the school as to its implementation.

The student’s IEP calls for 1200 minutes of special education services per week, or 240 minutes per school day.  Accordingly, the school district is hereby ordered to provide compensatory education in the amount of 240 minutes times the fifteen days he received out-of-school suspension during the most recent school year, plus 240 minutes times the number of school days from the date of this decision until the aforesaid behavioral consultant develops an appropriate behavioral intervention plan and all relevant personnel are trained.  The parties are directed to attempt in good faith to agree as to the exact nature and specific details of this compensatory education prior to the development of the new behavioral intervention plan.   If they fail to do so, the behavioral consultant shall determine the exact nature and specific details of the compensatory education that the student is to receive pursuant to the calculations set forth herein.
D.  Extended School Year

The parents request that the student be awarded extended school year services.  Because there is no evidence in the record that the student suffers significant regression and recoupment problems, however, no basis for said relief has been established.  34 C.F.R. Section 300.106; Policy 2419, Chapter 5, Section 2(H); M.M. by D.M. and E.M. v. School District of Greenville County, 303 F3d 523, 37 IDELR 183 (4th Cir. 2002).  Accordingly, said relief is hereby denied.


It should be noted, however, that if the parties agree, or in the alternative if the aforesaid behavioral consultant so determines, the compensatory relief awarded to the student herein may be delivered in the extended school year setting.

E.  Return to Regular Classroom

In their proposed finding of fact, although not in their brief, the parents seek the return of the student to the regular classroom placement. As his current teacher noted in her testimony, this is an important future goal.  As the parents’ own expert noted, however, this process must be done very carefully and very slowly because of the student’s violent and aggressive behaviors.

More importantly, this issue was not raised in the current due process complaint.  Although the complaint seeks a reversal of the IAES high school placement, there is no request for the student to be placed in a regular classroom.  The student’s February 29, 2008 IEP includes a placement in a special education separate class at his elementary school.  The current due process complaint does not challenge the February 29, 2008 IEP.  Accordingly, the relief of a return to the regular classroom is beyond the scope of the instant due process hearing.  IDEA Section 615(f)(3)(B); 34 C.F.R. Section 300.511(d).  Moreover, it would be fundamentally unfair to permit parties to amend the relief requested after the hearing is completed.

The request that the student be returned to the regular classroom placement is hereby denied.

F.  Other Relief

The parents request certain other relief.  No basis for any such relief has been established, however, and all said other relief is hereby denied.
ORDER
  
It is hereby ORDERED


1.  That the relief as specified herein is hereby awarded to the parents and the student as aforesaid;


2.  All other relief is hereby denied;  and


3.  Within one hundred and eighty days of the date that this Decision is issued, the schools shall submit a written report to Ghaski Browning at the West Virginia Department of Education, Office of Assessment and Accountability, documenting all steps the schools have taken to comply with this Order.

APPEAL RIGHTS

Any party aggrieved by the findings or the decision herein has a right to bring a civil action in any state court of competent jurisdiction within one hundred and twenty days from the date of the issuance of the hearing officer’s decision, or in a district court of the United States.  Policy 2419, Chapter 11, Section 3(N).

ENTERED _______________________________







______________________________








James Gerl, CHO 







Hearing Officer 
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